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REPORT OF THE GOVERNING BODY 

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY  

The Governing Body present their Annual Report and Financial Statements (including 
Auditor’s Report) for Activate Learning, for the year ended 31st July 2023. 

Legal Status 

Activate Learning (the Corporation) is a Further Education Corporation established on 1st April 
2003 under the provisions of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992. The Corporation 
was established under the name Oxford and Cherwell College for the purpose of operating 
Oxford College of Further Education, North Oxfordshire College and Rycotewood College.  

The Corporation is an exempt charity under Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and is regulated 
by the Secretary of State for Education as Principal Regulator for all Further Education 
Corporations in England. The Members of the Corporation body, who are trustees of the 
Charity, are disclosed on pages 18 and 19. 

Since 2003, the group has grown as other Colleges have joined: 

• Reading College on 1st August 2012
• Bracknell & Wokingham College on 10th January 2019
• Guildford College, Merrist Wood College and Farnham College (which together

formed The Guildford College Group) on 29th March 2019.

It was the addition of Reading College in 2012 that prompted a name change for the 
Corporation to Activate Learning, which was effective from September 2013. Local college 
names are maintained on a campus basis. 

On 1st June 2014, the apprenticeship and consultancy business of Activate Learning was 
transferred to Activate Enterprise Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Corporation. 
This included the activities of Rocket Consultancy Limited, which were acquired in 2013. 

During 2014/15 the group acquired a 37% share in The Oxfordshire Partnership LLC, an 
associate operating in Saudi Arabia, via its subsidiary undertaking, Activate Learning 
Investments Limited. In September 2019, Activate Learning acquired the remaining shares, 
but the entity ceased trading in 2020.  

On 1st June 2016 Activate Learning became the sole member of ATG Training Limited, a 
company limited by guarantee and charity. ATG Training Limited was dissolved in December 
2019 after all assets, liabilities and activities had been transferred to the Corporation. 

Public Benefit 

In setting and reviewing the Corporations Strategic objectives, the Governing Body has had 
due regard for the Charity Commissions guidance on public benefit and particularly upon its 
supplementary guidance on the advancement of education. The guidance sets out the 
requirement that all organisations wishing to be recognised as charities must demonstrate 
explicitly that their aims are for the public benefit. In delivering its mission, the Corporation 
provides identifiable public benefits through the advancement of education: 
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• High quality teaching and learning.
• Widening participation and tackling social exclusion.
• Routes into employment for students.
• Strong student support systems.
• Links with employers, industry and commerce.

Vision & Mission 

Strategic Plan 

The Group Strategic Plan for the period 2021 to 2025 reflects our ambition for growth and 
development over the period. At the plan’s core are the journeys we set out for our learners, 
our staff and the employers we work with. We illustrate how our Learning Philosophy ignites 
those journeys and articulate the strategic drivers (neuroscience, technology, globalisation, 
wellbeing and sustainability) that underpin our plan. 

We call our strategy ‘Empowering Learning’ and it ensures both a focus on our customers and 
the development of additional capability and capacity:  

Our award-winning Learning Philosophy is fundamental to everything that we do and 
central to the strategy.  

The Learning Philosophy provides a common set of values and language for learning 
across our colleges, partner schools and workplaces. It helps us collaborate and achieve 
success for our learners, our people and the employers and communities we serve. We 
believe anyone is capable of great things if they can learn to believe in themselves.   
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It shows how hard work, persistence, the right incentives and a supportive and safe 
environment, can change the way we learn and develop highly employable talent for our 
local communities and the employer partners we work with.   

It’s built around three pillars: our brain, our emotions, and being motivated. 

The strategy establishes three key strategic objectives, one for each journey, which are 
monitored through key performance indicators: 

• With our Learners, we will co-create a highly memorable learner experience, with
impactful, high-quality learning and feedback, empowering learners’ progress.

• With our Staff, we will co-create a culture that values and sustains a love for
professional development, interdependent learning communities, and builds
progressive career paths.

• With our Employer Partners, we will co-create an exciting and responsive curriculum
that empowers our learners to become highly enterprising and employable.

We all have the capacity to develop ourselves throughout our lifetime. 
Like any other part of your body, the more you work your brain and 
train it, the stronger it becomes.   

You can master great things when given the right guidance, practice 
and work hard. Every time you practice something it strengthens your 
brain. As you improve, you can start to take on new things and 
understand more, so you can continue and thrive on the path you take 
through life. 

We encourage our students to learn and make them feel confident 
and well supported in this process. Learning is an emotional 
experience and when you feel confident, well supported and you trust 
your teacher, your brain is more open to learning. If you are forced 
into it and feel afraid, your ‘thinking brain’ closes down.  

Negative feelings built on previous bad experiences can stop your 
brain from working at its best and affect how you learn. We help 
learners to be more resilient and bounce back when they feel they 
have failed. Failure is an amazing learning experience and can give 
the confidence to keep going and stand out from the crowd. 

Creating highly motivated young people that are ready to take on new 
challenges as they enter the workplace is something we pride 
ourselves on. We teach our learners to be inquisitive so they 
understand the task at hand. Learners should always understand why 
they are learning what they are learning. Learning has more interest 
when it is clear how it will bring benefit in the future.   

We work to understand what is wanted from a learning experience. 
We provide a range of experiences and opportunities through the 
businesses and partners we work with, to give a sense of purpose in 
what is being done and to help with the next step, whatever that is. 
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Our key measurement of progress and continuous improvement is feedback. We also measure 
our progress through key performance indicators related to operational delivery (including 
learner numbers, quality, staff attraction, staff retention, learner destinations and employer 
satisfaction) and change (including business system investment, culture development and 
engagement with an alumni scheme). 

Measures are tracked in each division to ensure group wide alignment with the plan. 

Annual objectives for Finances, Information, Estates & Equipment underpin success. 

CURRENT AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE 

Activate Learning operates activities from college campuses across Berkshire, Oxfordshire 
and Surrey: 

• Banbury and Bicester College
• Bracknell & Wokingham College
• City of Oxford College (including the Technology Campus at Blackbird Leys)
• Farnham College
• Guildford College
• Merrist Wood College
• Reading College

The Corporation owns 100% of the shares in Activate Enterprise Limited, an apprenticeship 
training provider, which works directly with employers and uses college campuses as 
appropriate. 

Activity is structured into Operating Divisions, which are managed by locally based Executives. 
The Group oversees the running of the Divisions and provides group wide shared services. A 
cross campus faculty structure provides consistent quality of delivery. This structure has 
strengthened local focus while making best use of shared resources, facilitating growth. The 
Group has greater access to funding and a stronger voice when it comes to working with 
regional or national agencies and other stakeholders. 

During the 2022/23 academic year, Activate Learning registered several significant 
achievements and received various accolades that reflect our commitment to providing 
innovative, high-quality education in the Further Education sector.  

The most notable of these was the Ofsted inspection in November 2022, resulting in a ‘Good’ 
grade with ‘Outstanding’ features and a ‘Strong’ contribution to identifying and meeting local 
skills needs. The detail is described on page 11.  

Our online provision was recognised for its ‘best in sector’ approach when it won the AoC 
Beacon Award for effective use of digital technology. This was then solidified with our win of 
the ‘Outstanding Online School’ award at the Edufuturist Awards.  

Our commitment to our learners’ safety and wellbeing was also recognised with our Silver 
Award at the FE First Awards for our ‘Speak Up Speak Out’ campaign to promote personal 
safety and reduce sexual harm and violence.   

The 2022/23 academic year also saw us launch our internal staff recognition awards and the 
Activate Alumni programme, building on the commitments we outlined in our Empowering 
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Learning strategy and our Staff and Learner Journeys. The alumni programme has seen 
enormous successes with almost 1,000 active members signed up within the first 10 months.  

From a student recruitment perspective, we have also seen significant strides in our efforts to 
grow our market share. Our Open Events in 2022/23 boasted the highest attendance we’ve 
ever seen, resulting in the largest number of students recruited to our full-time and online 
programmes for the 2023/24 year.  

Our commitment to sustainability was also at the forefront of activity in 2022/23, as we 
embarked on several initiatives across Activate Learning. One of these saw us launch the 
sector’s first personalised digital prospectus. This eco-friendly initiative has led to a reduction 
of 900,000 pages of printed material, highlighting our commitment to environmentally 
responsible practices. 

Activate Learning is a member and sponsor of Activate Learning Education Trust (ALET). An 
independent Board controls ALET and the results are not consolidated within these Financial 
Statements. ALET has multi academy status having an individual funding agreement with the 
Secretary of State and an independent governance structure as set out in the Academies 
Financial Handbook (September 2022).  

The multi-academy trust governs The Bicester School, Theale Green School, UTC Swindon, 
UTC Oxfordshire, UTC Reading and UTC Heathrow. 

Financial Objectives 

The Corporation’s overriding financial strategy is to drive income growth and cost efficiency to 
generate cash for re-investment. 

This strategy continues to be underpinned by ongoing financial objectives: 

• To identify, develop and implement key strategic opportunities for new and expanding
revenue income streams, as well as growth through acquisition in new and existing
markets.

• To develop financial strategies to ensure budgets and operational plans improve the
group’s solvency and optimise resource utilisation.

• To operate financial systems that ensure timely financial information for senior
management and budget holders that support decision-making processes.

• To encourage a culture of open financial accountability and value for money across all
activities.

• To identify efficiencies across all activities to both optimise cash surpluses and protect
delivery.

Together, these objectives are intended to maximise the underlying financial health of the 
Group. 

The most recent college mergers (completed in 2019) fully supported longer term achievement 
of the financial strategy and objectives. The additional scale affords considerable opportunity to 
generate further efficiency and longer-term income growth, although progress was hampered by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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Performance Indicators 

The Corporation regularly reviews financial performance and sets a series of comprehensive 
key financial performances indicators. 

The table below shows performance against targets set for the year ended 31st July 2023: 

KPI Target Actual 
Sector EBITDA as % of income 2.6% 1.5% 
Staff cost as % of income 72.9% 71.6% 
Closing cash balance £16.1m £18.8m 
Adjusted current ratio >2.00 2.44 
Borrowing as % of income < 20% 5% 
Financial health score Good Good 

Financial performance in 2022/23 continued to be significantly impacted by the economic 
conditions and ‘cost of living crisis’. EBITDA performance was impacted by non-core income 
shortfalls, a higher than anticipated cost of living pay award for all staff and high levels of cost 
inflation. Conversely, increased levels of capital expenditure grant funding received from the 
Department for Education increased the closing cash position.    

The Corporation is committed to observing the importance of sector measures and indicators 
and uses the FE Choices website that looks at measures such as success rates. The Education 
and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) produces a Financial Health grading for all Further Education 
providers, based on regular financial data submissions. The rating for Activate Learning has 
been ‘GOOD’ for several years, benefiting from strong cash balance and low levels of debt. 
These have been maintained despite the wider economic conditions and will support increasing 
profitability ratios going forward.  

Financial Results 

The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income account on page 34 consolidates the 
results of Activate Learning and Activate Enterprise Limited. A summary of the Group’s income 
and expenditure is analysed overleaf. 

An increase in income and a reduction in deficit are reported despite the exceptional economic 
conditions and cost inflation during the year.  

The Corporation is reporting a deficit (excluding FRS102 pension adjustments and exceptional 
items) of £3.5m (2022 deficit of: £4.3m).  

The Group has accumulated reserves of £122m (2022 reserves of: £104m after pension 
liability) and cash balance of £18.8m (2022 cash of: £19.1m). 
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£000s 2021/22 2021/22 

Activate 
Learning 

Activate 
Enterprise 

Inter Company / 
Consolidation 

Adjustment 
Group Group 

Total Income 91,020 5,758 (3,211) 93,567 85,975 

Total Expenditure (94,589) (6,153) 3,715 (97,026) (90,254) 

(Deficit) / surplus for the year 
before, FRS102 adjustments 
and exceptional items 

(3,568) (395) 504 (3,460) (4,279) 

FRS 102 pension service cost 22,947 - - 22,947 83,918 

FRS 102 pension interest charge (802) - - (802) (1,744) 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year 
before exceptional items 18,576 (395) 504 18,685 77,895 

Restructuring (172) (1) - (174) (147) 

Profit on disposal of assets 186 - - 186 - 

Share of operating loss in 
associates - - - - (43) 

Loss on closure of subsidiary - - - - (2,877) 

Total Surplus / (deficit) for the 
year 18,590 (397) 504 18,697 74,828 

Treasury Policies and Objectives 

Treasury management is the oversight of the Group’s cash flows, banking arrangements, 
money market and capital market transactions, together with the effective control of the risks 
associated with such activities and pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

All borrowing requires the authorisation of the Corporation and complies with the requirements 
of the Financial Memorandum with the ESFA.  

Cash Flows and Liquidity 

In total, activity within the year generated a cash outflow of £0.4m. Operating cash flow was a 
net cash in-flow of £4.6m (2022: out-flow of £4.3m). The size of the Group’s total borrowing and 
its approach to interest rate has been calculated to ensure a reasonable cushion between the 
total cost of servicing debt and operating cash flow. During the year, this margin was comfortably 
exceeded. 

Reserves 

The Group has no formal Reserves Policy but recognises the importance of reserves in the 
financial stability of any organisation and ensures that there are adequate reserves to support 
the College’s core activities. As at the balance sheet date the Income and Expenditure reserve 
stands at £111.1m (2022: £92.2m).  
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Financial Health 

As noted above, the ESFA measure of Financial Health is ‘GOOD’. Lending covenants have 
been met. 

Student Numbers 

The Group had 19,356 learners in the period (2022: 20,524). 

Achievements 

Achievement rate for the Group is 79.0% (2022: 78.9%). National comparative data is not yet 
available, but we are aware of challenges throughout the sector following COVID-19. 

Inspection 

Activate Learning was inspected by Ofsted in November 2022, with their report published in 
January 2023. 

This was the first full inspection since the most recent college mergers and the organisation was 
rated as ‘Good’ for Overall Effectiveness. Grades of ‘Good’ were identified for Quality of 
Education, Behaviour & Attitudes, Personal Development, Leadership & Management, 
Education Programmes for Young People, Adult Learning Programmes and Apprenticeships. 
An ‘Outstanding’ grade was awarded for Provision for Learners with High Needs, maintaining 
the position from previous inspections. 

The report identified that Activate Learning makes a ‘strong’ contribution to meeting skills needs, 
the highest rating available for this new inspection element. 

Particular strengths noted in the inspection report included the consistent use of the ‘Learning 
Philosophy’, the knowledge and experience of teaching staff, the professional development 
available to them, the ambition of learners and the outstanding progress made by learners with 
high needs. 

Given the increased scale of the organisation since the 2017 Ofsted inspection, the process of 
review was more complex and resource intensive than ever before. The 26 strong Ofsted team 
visited all college campuses, while also speaking with (and in some cases visiting) various local 
employers and stakeholders. The positive outcome from inspection reflects the consistency of 
high standards seen throughout their discussions and observations.   

Of particular note is the progress made in Guildford College, Merrist Wood College and Farnham 
College. Prior to joining Activate Learning, Guildford College Group had been graded ‘Requires 
Improvement’ since 2015, with the most recent ‘Good’ grade achieved in 2009.  

The outcome was consistent with the post-merger monitoring visit in September 2021, which 
recognised the ‘significant progress’ that has been made in leadership and governance, with 
Ofsted complimentary about the culture and values demonstrated at Activate Learning that 
emanate from our Learning Philosophy. Ofsted also recognised the considerable improvements 
made in teaching, learning, and assessment outcomes, and were very complimentary about the 
breadth and depth of developments undertaken by our teachers and managers. 
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Ofsted also conducted an inspection of student residential accommodation at Merrist Wood 
College in September 2021, grading the provision ‘Outstanding’. 

Curriculum Developments 

At the heart of our ‘Empowering Learning’ strategy is the Learning Philosophy which, together 
with our strategic drivers, provides the foundation for our approaches to delivering learning and 
the curriculum.  

The curriculum strategy reflects the current and future educational context and considers both 
local, regional and national economic and skills requirements, responding to the growing 
demand for skills to support economic priorities, alongside government reforms to enhance 
technical education and work-based training, such as T Levels and an Institute of Technology.  

The curriculum intent provides a consistent approach to the design and construction of 
programmes at different stages in each career pathway. The four main curriculum components 
consisting of traditional knowledge (Vocational or Academic, English, Mathematics, Digital and 
Work Experience, Wellness, Pastoral, Tutorial, Progress Reviews), Attributes Development, 
Global Literacy and Citizenship are combined to create differentiated programmes of study that 
provide the knowledge, skills and attributes learners need to progress between the stages of 
their chosen career pathway.  

T-Levels in Health, Digital, Business, Engineering, Education and Childcare are now being
delivered. Our planning principles for T Levels are designed to develop learners' skills,
knowledge and intra-disciplinary habits of mind. The contextualisation of mathematics, English
and Digital skills, with an emphasis on asynchronous learning, is designed to enhance and
support learners’ overall outcomes. The T Level curriculum is coherent and subject matter is
logically sequenced, based upon advice from our close working relationship with local
employers. The T Level qualifications offered have been expanded in response to Local
Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) skills priorities.

Skills Bootcamps which are employer-led, short, flexible courses that enable adults to retrain, 
upskill, secure employment or progress are being delivered. They are one of the government's 
five priority training areas together with T Levels, apprenticeships, free courses for jobs and 
Higher Technical Qualifications. Skills Bootcamps, last up to 16 weeks and can be classroom-
based, online or blended delivery. Bootcamps in Life Sciences are being delivered and this will 
be extended to include Green Skills (E-Bikes and E-Vehicles), Digital Skills and Cyber Security. 

The online provision, delivered via a remote campus team, has grown significantly and 
maintained its high quality, enabling individuals from diverse backgrounds and potential barriers 
to learning from across the country to enter or progress through education. The curriculum offer 
includes Access to Higher Education, GCSE English and Mathematics and Distance Learning 
courses.  

The Access to Higher Education online programme offers progression routes for learners to 
achieve their ambitions in a way that suits their personal situations, with excellent progression 
to university on each pathway.  Feedback from learners is overwhelmingly positive and highlights 
the intensive support they receive and how their confidence and resilience has been supported 
alongside their academic ability.   

Within the Personal Development curriculum, the intent is to positively develop learners' growth 
mindset, motivation, physical, financial and emotional wellbeing in line with the Learning 
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Philosophy. During ‘Connect to College’ week at the start of the year, learners learn about the 
‘3 R’s’ of Relationships, Readiness to learn and Routines, including Safeguarding and British 
Values. ‘Speak Up Speak Out’ raises awareness about sexual harassment and abuse. In line 
with latest Keeping Children Safe in Education guidance, we have greater focus on ensuring 
learners know how to stay safe online and use AI responsibly and ethically in their studies.   

The Careers Readiness framework builds on the six areas identified within the Careers 
Development Institute (CDI) framework which are also linked to the eight Gatsby Benchmarks. 
The six learning areas are Grow Throughout Life, Explore Possibilities, Manage Career, Create 
Opportunities, Balance Life and Work, See the Big Picture. There are a range of activities for 
learners in the areas of Careers Education, Careers Information, Careers Advice and Guidance 
and Work-Related Learning giving the learner a balanced experience to progress their career.  

Our digital education focuses on learner digital competencies, which is based on a personalised 
assessment of six digital competencies in every stage of the career pathway, together with 
infrastructure investment. By linking our digital strategy, extended reality strategy and the 
teaching, learning and assessment strategy, we develop digitally confident people through using 
online and extended reality technology, to provide personalised anytime, any pace, any place, 
any device learning.   

We have set up Technology Enhanced Learning spaces where staff and learners have access 
to emerging technologies. The aim of these spaces is to support staff to understand the tools of 
the mixed reality world, how to include them in the curriculum and for learners to understand 
how these tools can enrich their experience, support their learning and gain the necessary skills 
to be successful in their chosen field in industry. In addition, a range of virtual reality assets are 
being developed in areas such as equine, construction and early years. 

There is a firmly embedded process for reviewing and approving the curriculum portfolio which 
includes all full time, part time, online and commercial programmes and ensures curriculum 
planning is responsive to emerging needs. Annual curriculum review, adjustment and evaluation 
is embedded into the cyclical quality process to enhance student learning, engagement, 
experience, and outcomes. Reviews analyse the changing skills needs of the faculty sectors, 
exploration of recruitment trends, identification of opportunities provided through new 
technologies and rationalisation of our offer to ensure currency and impact.  

Our internal quality reviews utilise the criteria within the Ofsted Education Inspection framework, 
which has a stronger focus on curriculum intent, implementation and impact. We continue to 
consider potential changes to the facilitation of curriculum and the roles and configurations of 
the learning professional teams. Our approach to curriculum design will not only lead to an 
improved learner journey, but also longer-term value through efficiency and resource utilisation 
across sites. 

Payment Performance 

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts Interest Act 1998, which came into force on the 1st of 
November 1998, requires Corporations, in the absence of agreement to the contrary, to make 
payments to suppliers within 30 days of either their provision of goods or services or the date on 
which the invoice was received. The target set by The Treasury for payment to suppliers within 
30 days is 95%. The group makes every endeavour to adhere to this target.  
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Future Developments 

Following the merger related expansion during 2019, the Corporation continues to focus on 
consolidation, integration and delivering the scale driven efficiency upon which the business 
case for the mergers was based. Significant progress has been made, but the challenges of 
operating through the COVID-19 pandemic has left more to achieve. 

Student recruitment at the start of 2023/24 is encouraging, but the difficult economic conditions 
continue which is leading to significant pressure on the cost base and staff recruitment.  

In line with the Empowering Learning strategic plan, we have short-term objectives for the 
organisation that include: 

• Analyse and act on the 2023 staff survey to continue to improve the staff journey.
• Reduce the numbers of learners we lose.
• Ensure that we have a consistent high quality of further education across our college

campuses.
• Develop the digital knowledge, skills and mindset of staff.
• Across our apprenticeship delivery, focus on communication with our customers to

ensure we are developing talent for their businesses.
• Raise our profile as a leading organisation in further education to build our reputation,

support other colleges and potentially access resources to pilot new initiatives.
• While managing the significant inflationary pressure and investing in growth, deliver an

unmoderated financial health grade of ‘GOOD’ for the 2023/24 financial year.

Having due regard to the current position and principal risks, the Corporation believes it will be 
able to continue in operation and meet all liabilities on an ongoing basis. 

RESOURCES 

The group has various resources that it can deploy in pursuit of its strategic objectives. 

Financial 

The Corporation has £122m of accumulated reserves. 

People 

On average, the group employed 1,955 staff through the year ended 31st July 2023, of whom 
604 were teaching staff. 

Reputation 

The group has a good reputation locally and nationally which is important for it to be successful 
in attracting students and external relationships. 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

The Corporation has developed and embedded a system of internal control, including financial, 
operational and risk management, which is designed to protect the Group's assets and 
reputation. 
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Based on the strategic plan, the Corporation undertakes a comprehensive review of the risks to 
which the group is exposed. They identify systems and procedures, including specific 
preventative actions which should mitigate any potential impact on the group. The internal 
controls are then implemented and the subsequent year’s appraisal will review their 
effectiveness and progress against risk mitigation actions. 

In addition to annual review, the Corporation will also consider any risk which may arise as a 
result of a new area of work being undertaken by the Group. 

A risk register is maintained which is reviewed regularly by the Corporation and by the Audit and 
Risk Committee. The risk register identifies the key risks, the likelihood of those risks occurring, 
their potential impact on the group and the actions being taken to reduce and mitigate the risks. 
Risks are prioritised using a consistent scoring system. 

At the start of the 2023/24, no operational risks are rated ‘high’ after mitigations, although a 
number of risks will continue to evolve through the year. Not all factors are within the Group’s 
control and other factors besides those considered in the risk register may also adversely affect 
the Group. While not unique to Activate Learning, the following underlying risks remain for the 
further education sector as a whole:  

• The short-term approach to government funding for the sector makes longer term
financial planning for Further Education entities impossible.
With funding subject to annual budgetary consideration by the Department for
Education and HM Treasury, the ability for organisations in this sector to develop long
term financial plans is limited. When coupled with the limitations under ‘managing
public money’ guidance which restricts the availability of commercial borrowing to the
sector, the ability to invest to drive growth will be challenging.

• The number of cyber-attacks in the sector continues to increase, from ransomware to
phishing.
Protections developed in recent years are significant, including 24 / 7 / 365 network
monitoring through a 3rd party Security Operations Centre.

Activate Learning does holds significant mitigations for these external risks. 

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS 

In line with other Corporations and with Universities, Activate Learning has many stakeholders. 
These include students, funding agencies, staff, local employers (with specific links), local 
authorities, government offices, the local community, other Further Education institutions, 
University partners, trade unions and professional bodies. The Group recognises the importance 
of these relationships and engages in regular communication with them. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 

The Group is committed to ensuring equality of opportunity for all who learn and work with us. 
Activate Learning believes there should be no limits to achievement and as well as celebrating 
the individual talents of all staff and students, we challenge discrimination and strive to remove 
barriers which place people at a disadvantage. 
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The Group publishes an annual Equality Report and Equality Objectives to ensure compliance 
with all relevant equality legislation, including the Equality Act 2010. The Group undertakes 
equality impact assessments on new policies and procedures. Equality impact assessments are 
also undertaken for existing policies and procedures on a prioritised basis. 

The safeguarding protocols for the Group ensure that staff and learners are aware that 
safeguarding is the responsibility of everyone. 

DISABILITY STATEMENT 

The group seeks to achieve the objectives set down in the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 as 
amended by the Special Education Needs and Disability Act 2001 and 2005. In particular, the 
Group makes the following commitments: 

• As part of the redevelopment of buildings, the Group is installing lifts and ramps etc. so
that eventually most of the facilities will allow access to people with a disability.

• There is a list of specialist equipment, lighting, audio facilities etc. which the Group can
make available for use by students.

• The admissions policy for all students is described in the Group charter, with an appeal
process against a decision not to offer a place dealt with under the complaints policy.

• The Group has made a significant investment in the appointment of specialist lecturers
to support students with learning difficulties and / or disabilities. There is a number of
student support assistants who can provide a variety of support for learning. There is a
continuing programme of staff development to ensure the provision of a high level of
appropriate support for students who have learning difficulties and / or disabilities.

• Specialist programmes are described in programme information guides, and
achievements and destinations are recorded and published in the standard group format.

• Counselling and welfare services are described in the Group charter.

The group considers all applications for employment from disabled persons, bearing in mind the 
aptitudes of the individuals concerned and guarantees an interview to any disabled applicant 
who meets the essential criteria for the post. Where an existing employee becomes disabled, 
every effort is made to ensure that employment with the Group continues. The Group's policy is 
to provide training, career development and opportunities for promotion which are, as far as 
possible, identical to those for other employees. 

The group is a ‘Positive about Disabled’ employer and has committed to the principles and 
objectives of the ‘Positive about Disabled’ standard. 

TRADE UNION FACILITY TIME 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 require the Group 
to publish information on facility time arrangements for trade union officials in the workforce. 

The group had seven employees that this relates to in 2022/23 with the time being spent and 
approximate cost shown overleaf: 
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Percentage of time Number of employees 
0% 0 
1-50% 7 
51-99% 0 
100% 0 
Total cost of facility time £10,607 
Total pay bill £47,515,000 
Percentage of total bill spent on facility time 0.02% 

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS 

The members who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they 
are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware 
and each member has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditors are aware of that 
information. 

Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 12th December 2023 and signed on its 
behalf by: 

……………………………………. 

Sue Sturgeon, Chair 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

The following statement is provided to enable readers of the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements of the Group to obtain a better understanding of its governance and legal structure. 
This statement covers the period from the 1st August 2022 to the 31st July 2023 and up to the 
date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. 

The Group endeavours to conduct its business: 

• in accordance with the seven principles identified by the Committee on Standards in
public life (selflessness, integrity, objectiveness, accountability, openness, honesty and
leadership), and

• in full accordance with the guidance to colleges from the Association of Colleges in the
Code of Good Governance for English colleges (‘the Code’).

The Group is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance and 
in particular the Group has adopted and complied with the Code. We have not adopted and 
therefore do not apply the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have reported on our 
Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, which may 
include aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code relevant to the further education sector 
and best practice. 

In the opinion of the Governors the Group complies with the provisions of the Code, and it has 
complied throughout the year ended 31st July 2023. The Governing Body recognises that, as a 
body entrusted with both public and private funds, it has a particular duty to always observe the 
highest standards of corporate governance. In carrying out its responsibilities it takes full account 
of the Code issued by the Association of Colleges in March 2015, which it formally adopted in 
December 2015. 

The Corporation 

The members who served the Corporation during the year and up to the date of signature of this 
report were as follows: 

Name Date of 
Appointment 

Term of 
Office 

Status of 
Appointment 

Attendance at 
Corporation 
Meetings 

Committees 
Served 

Gary Headland 01.04.22 Ex officio CEO 100% (5/5) Search & 
Governance 

Sue Sturgeon 
(Chair) 

01.04.19 
Reappointed: 
01.02.21 

4 years 
External – 

Merger 
Partner 

100% (5/5) 
Search & 
Governance; 
Remuneration 

Dermot Mathias 
22.03.16 
Reappointed: 
20.04.20 

4 years External 80% (4/5) Audit & Risk; 
Remuneration 

James Voûte 07.10.21 4 years External 80% (4/5) Search & 
Governance 

Pauline Odulinski 

08.07.14 
Reappointed: 
18.06.18 
Reappointed: 
15.06.22 (1 year 
only) 
Resigned: 
10.07.23 

4 years External 100% (5/5) Search & 
Governance 
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Cathie Prest 28.03.23 4 years External 
40% (2/5) 

(100% since 
appointment) 

Malcolm Wicks 
12.07.16 
Reappointed: 
20.04.20 

4 years External 100% (5/5) Audit & Risk; 
Remuneration 

Julia Von 
Klonowski 

14.10.14 
Reappointed: 
16.10.17 
Reappointed: 
15.06.22 (1 year 
only) 
Resigned: 
10.07.23 

4 years External 80% (4/5) 

Andrew Stone 
01.04.19 
Reappointed: 
01.02.21 

4 years External - 
Merger Partner 100% (5/5) Audit & Risk 

John Cope 
09.12.19 
Resigned: 
20.07.23 

4 years External 40% (2/5) 

David Goosey 09.12.19 4 years External 80% (4/5) Remuneration 

Emma Shipp 09.12.19 4 years External 80% (4/5) Audit & Risk 

Kathy Slack 07.12.20 4 years External 100% (5/5) 
Search & 
Governance; 
Remuneration 

Lesha Chetty 13.04.22 4 years External 80% (4/5) 

Alison Blight 09.08.23 4 years External n/a 

Smitha Nair 17.10.23 4 years External n/a 

Latifah Taha 10.07.23 1 year Internal - 
Student n/a 

Natalia Malczewsk 10.07.23 1 year Internal - 
Student n/a 

Daniel Willis 06.12.21 2 years Internal - Staff 60% (3/5) Search & 
Governance 

There were 5 Board meetings in the period. Amy Gleeson serves as Clerk to the Corporation. 

It is the Corporation’s responsibility to bring independent judgement to bear on issues of strategy, 
performance, resources and standards of conduct. 

The Corporation is provided with regular and timely information on the overall financial 
performance of the Group together with other information such as performance against funding 
targets, proposed capital expenditure, quality matters and personnel related matters such as 
health and safety and environmental issues. The Corporation meets seven times in each year. 

The Corporation conducts its business through a number of committees. Each committee has 
terms of reference, which have been approved by the Corporation. These committees are 
‘Remuneration’, ‘Search and Governance’ and ‘Audit and Risk’. Full minutes of all meetings, 
except those deemed to be confidential by the Corporation, are available on the college website 
at www.activatelearning.ac.uk or from the Clerk to the Corporation at: 

Activate Learning 
Oxpens Road, 
Oxford, OX1 1SA 

http://www.activatelearning.ac.uk/
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The Clerk to the Corporation maintains a register of financial and personal interests of the 
Governors. The register is available for inspection at the above address. 

All members are able to take independent professional advice in furtherance of their duties at 
the Group's expense and have access to the Clerk to the Corporation, who is responsible to the 
Board for ensuring that all applicable procedures and regulations are complied with. The 
appointment, evaluation and removal of the Clerk are matters for the Corporation as a whole. 

Formal agendas, papers and reports are supplied to Governors in a timely manner, prior to board 
meetings. Briefings are also provided on an ad-hoc basis. 

The Corporation has a strong and independent non-executive element and no individual or 
Group dominates its decision making process. The Corporation considers that each of its non- 
executive members is independent of management and free from any business or other 
relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. 

There is a clear division of responsibility in that the roles of the Chair of the Corporation and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Group are separate. 

Appointments to the Corporation 

Any new appointments to the Corporation are a matter for consideration of the Corporation as a 
whole. The Corporation has a ‘Search and Governance Committee’ which is responsible for the 
selection and nomination of any new member for the Corporation’s consideration. The 
Corporation is responsible for ensuring that appropriate training is provided as required. 

Members of the Corporation are appointed for a term of office not exceeding 4 years. 

Corporation Performance 

The Corporation carried out a self-assessment of its own performance for the year ended 31st 
July 2023 and considers its performance to be appropriate. 

Remuneration Committee 

Throughout the year ending 31st July 2023, the Group's ‘Remuneration Committee’ had five 
members. The Committee’s responsibilities are to make recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration and benefits of the Group Chief Executive and other senior post-holders. 

Details of remuneration for the year ended 31st July 2023 are set out in Note 8 of the Financial 
Statements. 

Audit and Risk Committee 

The ‘Audit and Risk Committee’ comprises five members of the Corporation (who exclude the 
Group Chief Executive Officer and Chairman), one co-opted member and one external 
independent auditor.  The Committee operates in accordance with written Terms of Reference 
approved by the Corporation. Its purpose is to advise the Corporation on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control and its arrangements for risk 
management, control and governance processes. 
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The ‘Audit and Risk Committee’ meets three or more times in each year and provides a forum 
for reporting by the Group's internal and financial statement auditors, who have access to the 
committee for independent discussion, without the presence of Group management. The 
Committee may also occasionally receive and consider reports from the ESFA, as they affect 
the Group’s business. 

The Group's internal auditors monitor the systems of internal control, risk management controls 
and governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan and report their findings to 
management and the Committee. 

Management is responsible for the implementation of agreed recommendations and internal 
audit undertake periodic follow up reviews to ensure such recommendations have been 
implemented. 

The ‘Audit and Risk Committee’ also advises the Corporation on the appointment of internal and 
Financial Statement auditors and their remuneration for audit and non-audit work, as well as 
reporting annually to the Corporation. 

Internal Control 

Scope of Responsibility 

The Corporation is ultimately responsible for the Group's system of internal control and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Corporation has delegated the day to day responsibility to the Group Chief Executive 
Officer, as Accounting Officer, for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports 
the achievement of the Group’s policies aims and objectives whilst safeguarding the public funds 
and assets for which he is personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to him in the Financial Memorandum between the Group and ESFA. The Group Chief 
Executive Officer is also responsible for reporting to the Corporation any material weaknesses 
or breakdowns in internal control. 

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based 
on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risk to the achievement of college 
policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.  

The system of internal control has been in place in the Group for the year ended 31st July 2023 
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. 

The Risk and Control Framework 

The system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information, 
administration procedures including the segregation of duties, and a system of delegation an 
accountability. In particular, it includes: 
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• Comprehensive budgeting systems with an annual budget, which is reviewed and
agreed by the Corporation.

• Regular reviews by the Corporation of periodic and annual financial reports which
indicate financial performance against forecasts.

• Setting targets to measure financial and other performance.
• Clearly defined capital investment control guidelines, and
• The adoption of formal project management disciplines, where appropriate.

The Group has an internal audit service, which operates in accordance with the requirements of 
the ESFA’s Post 16 Audit Code of Practice. The work of the internal audit service is informed by 
an analysis of the risks to which the Group is exposed, and annual internal audit plans are based 
on this analysis. 

The analysis of risk and the internal audit plans are endorsed by the Corporation on the 
recommendation of the ‘Audit and Risk Committee’. 

As a minimum, the Head of Internal Audit annually provides the Corporation with a report on 
internal audit activity in the Group. The report includes the Head of Internal Audit’s independent 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system of risk management, controls 
and governance processes. 

Review of Effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, the Group Chief Executive has responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. The Group Chief Executive’s review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by: 

• The work of the internal auditors.
• The work of the executive managers within the group who have responsibility for the

development and maintenance of the internal control framework, and
• Comments made by the Group’s financial statement auditors in their management letter

and other reports.

The Group Chief Executive has been advised on the implications of the result of his review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the ‘Audit and Risk Committee’ which 
oversees the work of the internal auditor and other sources of assurance, and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continued improvement of the system is in place. 

The Group Executive Team receives reports setting out key performance and risk indicators and 
considers possible control issues brought to their attention by early warning mechanisms, which 
are embedded within the Divisions and reinforced by risk awareness training. The Group 
Executive Team and ‘Audit and Risk Committee’ also receive regular reports from internal audit 
and other sources of assurance, which include recommendations for improvement. The ‘Audit 
and Risk Committee’s’ role in this area is confined to a high level review of the arrangements for 
internal control. The Corporation’s agenda includes a regular item for consideration of risk and 
control and receives reports thereon from the Group Executive Team and the ‘Audit and Risk 
Committee’. The emphasis is on obtaining the relevant degree of assurance and not merely 
reporting by exception. At its December 2023 meeting, the Corporation carried out the annual 
assessment for the year ended 31st July 2023 by considering documentation from the Group 
Executive Team and internal audit, and taking account of events since the 31st July 2023. 
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Based on the advice of the ‘Audit and Risk Committee’ and the Group Chief Executive the 
Corporation is of the opinion that the Group has an adequate and effective framework for 
governance, risk management and control, and has fulfilled its statutory responsibility for ‘the 
effective and efficient use of resources, the solvency of the institution and the body and the 
safeguarding of their assets’. 

Capacity to Handle Risk 

The Corporation has reviewed the key risks to which the Group is exposed together with the 
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. 
The Corporation is of the view that there is a formal ongoing process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing the Group’s significant risks that has been in place for the period ending the 31st 
July 2023 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. This 
process is regularly reviewed by the Corporation. 

Going Concern 

After making appropriate enquiries and considering cash flow forecasts, the Corporation 
considers that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 

While disruption to financial performance is inevitable during the remainder of 2023 and into 
2024 from the challenging economic environment the organisation benefits from a strong 
balance sheet, low gearing and a resilient cash balance. Sufficient discretion remains available 
to manage investment and operational cost cash flows to help mitigate the impact of any income 
shortfalls on short term liquidity. 

Despite the challenging economic environment, the Corporation consider that financial 
resources are currently sufficient to ensure sustainability. The reasons for this confidence 
include: 

• The cash balance at 31st July 2023 of £18.8m is at the higher end of sector benchmarks.
• Core government funding is likely to remain payable through any further period of

disruption (such as a repeat of COVID restrictions or ongoing economic uncertainty) to
enable ongoing learning for students. This represents a significant proportion of income,
which safeguards a significant proportion of core cost commitments.

• The two-year cash flow forecast projects a relatively stable cash balance, giving material
margin for error.

• Capital Expenditure commitments are significant, but mostly discretionary. Expenditure
can be delayed or stopped if cash balances are diluted.

• The group Balance Sheet has minimal debt, with assets available to provide as security
should loan financing support be required. Current plans do not require borrowing, but if
financial performance were to deteriorate, it would be affordable.

• The organisation remains well placed to support the ongoing need for re-skilling and is
already accessing funding to do so.

• There are no additional material liabilities for the organisation arising from the current
environment that are not already reflected in budgets and the Financial Statements.

For these reasons, the Corporation continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
Financial Statements. 
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Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 12h December 2023 and signed on its 
behalf by: 

……………………………….. 

  
………………………………
…. Sue Sturgeon Gary Headland 

Chair          Group Chief Executive & Accounting Officer 
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ACCOUNTING OFFICER’S STATEMENT ON THE GROUPS REGULARITY, 
PROPRIETY AND COMPLIANCE WITH FUNDING BODY TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS OF FUNDING 

As accounting officer, I confirm that the corporation has had due regard to the framework of 
authorities governing regularity, propriety and compliance, and the requirements of grant funding 
agreements and contracts with ESFA and has considered its responsibility to notify ESFA of 
material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with those authorities and terms and 
conditions of funding. 

I confirm on behalf of the corporation that after due enquiry, and to the best of my knowledge, I 
am able to identify any material irregular or improper use of funds by the corporation, or material 
non-compliance with the framework of authorities and the terms and conditions of funding under 
the corporation’s grant funding agreements and contracts with ESFA, or any other public funder. 
This includes the elements outlined in the “Dear accounting officer” letter of 29 November 2022 
and ESFA’s bite size guides. 

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety, funding non-compliance, or non-
compliance with the framework of authorities have been discovered to date. If any instances are 
identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to ESFA. 

…………………………………. 
Gary Headland 
Group Chief Executive & Accounting Officer 

STATEMENT OF THE CHAIR OF GOVERNORS 

On behalf of the corporation, I confirm that the accounting officer has discussed their statement 
of regularity, propriety and compliance with the board and that I am content that it is materially 
accurate. 

…………………………………. 
Sue Sturgeon 
Chair 
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STATEMENT OF THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEMBERS OF THE 
CORPORATION  

The Members of the Corporation are required to present audited Financial Statements for each 
financial year. 

Within the terms and conditions of the financial memorandum between the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency and the Corporation, the Corporation, through its Group Chief Executive, is 
required to prepare Financial Statements for each financial year in accordance with the 2015 
Statement of Recommended Practice-Accounting for Further and Higher Education and with the 
College Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, 
and which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the result for that year. 

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Corporation is required to: 

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently.
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.
• State whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any

material departures disclosed and explained in the Financial Statements, and
• Prepare Financial Statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to

assume that the group will continue in operation.

The Corporation is also required to prepare a report of the Governing Body which describes 
what it is trying to do and how it is going about it, including the legal and administrative status of 
the Group. 

The Corporation is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and which enable it to ensure 
that the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the relevant legislation of 
incorporation and other relevant Accounting Standards. It is responsible for taking steps that are 
reasonably open to it to safeguard assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. 

The maintenance and integrity of the Activate Learning website is the responsibility of the 
Governing Body of the Group. The work carried out by the auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any 
changes that may have occurred to the Financial Statements since they were initially presented 
on the website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination 
of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Members of the Corporation are responsible for ensuring that expenditure and income are 
applied for the purposes intended by Parliament and that the financial transactions conform to 
the authorities that govern them. In addition, they are responsible for ensuring that funds from 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency are used only in accordance with the financial 
memorandum with the Education and Skills Funding Agency and any other conditions that may 
be prescribed from time to time. 

Members of the Corporation must ensure that there are appropriate financial and management 
controls in place to safeguard public and other funds and to ensure they are used properly. In 
addition, members of the Corporation are responsible for securing economical, efficient and 
effective management of the Group’s resources and expenditure so that the benefits that should 
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be derived from the application of public funds by the Education and Skills Funding Agency are 
not put at risk. 

Approved by order of the members of the Corporation on 12th December 2023 and signed on its 
behalf by: 

…………………………….. 
Sue Sturgeon 
Chair 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ACTIVATE 
LEARNING  

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Activate Learning (the ‘College’) and its subsidiary (the 
‘Group’) for the year ended 31 July 2023 which comprise the Group and College Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, the Group and College Statement of Changes in Reserves, 
the Group and College Balance Sheet, the Group Statement of Cashflows and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and the 
2019 Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and College’s affairs as at 31 July 2023 and
of the Group’s and College’s deficit of income over expenditure for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group and the College in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Members of the Corporation’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and 
College's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Members of the Corporation with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Corporation is responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Post 16 Audit Code of Practice 
issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• the information given in the report of the Members of the Corporation, including the operating

and financial review and statement of corporate governance, is inconsistent with the financial
statements; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Corporation 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities of the Members of the Corporation set out 
on page 26, the Corporation is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Corporation determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Corporation is responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
College’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Corporation either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the College or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements.  

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed 
below. 
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Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud.  

Based on our understanding of the Group and the College and their industry, we considered that non-
compliance with the following laws and regulations might have a material effect on the financial 
statements: compliance with the ESFA funding agreements, the OfS regulatory framework, the 
OFSTED regulatory framework, safeguarding, pensions legislation, employment regulation and health 
and safety regulation, anti-bribery, corruption and fraud and money laundering. 

To help us identify instances of non-compliance with these laws and regulations, and in identifying and 
assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect to non-compliance, our procedures included, 
but were not limited to: 

• Inquiring of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as to whether
the Group and the College is in compliance with laws and regulations, and discussing their policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations;

• Inspecting correspondence, if any, with relevant licensing or regulatory authorities;
• Communicating identified laws and regulations to the engagement team and remaining alert to

any indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and
• Considering the risk of acts by the Group and the College which were contrary to applicable laws

and regulations, including fraud.

We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the preparation of the 
financial statements, such as pension legislation.  

In addition, we evaluated the Members of the Corporation and management’s incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements, including the risk of management 
override of controls, and determined that the principal risks related to posting manual journal entries to 
manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in 
significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to, revenue recognition (which we pinpointed 
to the cut-off assertion) and significant one-off or unusual transactions.  

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to: 
• Making enquiries of the Members of the Corporation and management on whether they had

knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
• Gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;
• Discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and
• Addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry

testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility 
for the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management. As with any 
audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls. 
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report. 

Other required reporting 
Opinion on other matters prescribed in the OfS Audit Code of Practice issued under the Further 
and Higher Education Act 1992 

In our opinion, in all material respects: 
• funds provided by the OfS and UK Research and Innovation (including Research England) have

been applied in accordance with the relevant terms and conditions attached to them; and
• the requirements of OfS’s accounts direction have been met.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the OfS Audit Code of 
Practice requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the provider’s grant and fee income, as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, has
been materially misstated; or

• the provider’s expenditure on access and participation activities, as disclosed in the financial
statements, has been materially misstated.

Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the Corporation as a body in accordance with Article 22 of the College’s 
Articles of Government. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Corporation 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Group and the College and the Corporation as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Mazars LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 

90 Victoria Street 

Bristol  

BS1 6DP  

Date 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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INDEPENDENT REGULARITY REPORT TO THE CORPORATION OF 
ACTIVATE LEARNING (“THE CORPORATION”) AND SECRETARY OF 
STATE FOR EDUCATION ACTING THROUGH EDUCATION AND SKILLS 
FUNDING AGENCY (“ESFA”) 

In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 4 September 2023 and further to the 
requirements and conditions of funding in ESFA’s grant funding agreements and contracts, or those of 
any other public funder, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether 
anything has come to our attention that would suggest, in all material respects, the expenditure 
disbursed and income received by Activate Learning during the period 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2023 
have not been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not 
conform to the authorities which govern them. 

The framework that has been applied is set out in the Post-16 Audit Code of Practice (the Code) issued 
by ESFA and in any relevant conditions of funding, concerning adult education notified by a relevant 
funder. 

This report is made solely to the corporation of Activate Learning and ESFA in accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the corporation 
of Activate Learning and ESFA those matters we are required to state in a report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept, or assume, responsibility to anyone 
other than the corporation of Activate Learning and ESFA for our work, for this report, or for the 
conclusion we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Activate Learning and the reporting accountant 
The corporation of Activate Learning is responsible, under the requirements of the Further & Higher 
Education Act 1992, subsequent legislation and related regulations and guidance, for ensuring that 
expenditure disbursed, and income received, are applied for the purposes intended by Parliament, and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities that govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by the Code our 
profession’s ethical guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our 
engagement letter and the requirements of the Code. We report to you whether anything has come to 
our attention in carrying out our work, which suggests that in all material respects, expenditure 
disbursed and income received, during the period 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2023 have not been applied 
to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 

Approach 
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Code issued by ESFA. We performed a limited 
assurance engagement as defined in that framework. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information 
and explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative 
conclusion on regularity and propriety. 

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement 
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant 
matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express 
a positive opinion. 

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and 
propriety of the corporation’s income and expenditure. 

The work undertaken to draw to our conclusion includes: 
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• Reviewed the statement on the College’s regularity, propriety and compliance with Funding
body terms and  conditions of funding.

• Reviewed the College’s completed self-assessment questionnaire on regularity.

• Read the financial memorandum with the ESFA/funding agreement with the ESFA.

• Tested a sample of expenditure disbursed and income received to consider whether they have
been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and in accordance with funding agreements
where relevant.

• Tested a sample of individual learner records.

• Reviewed all payments to senior post holders on termination of employment or in respect of
claims made in the year.

• Reviewed approved policies and procedures operating during the year for each funding stream
that has specific terms attached.

• Obtained the policy for personal gifts and/or hospitality.

• Obtained the register of personal interests.

• Obtained the financial regulations/financial procedures.

• Obtained the College’s whistleblowing policy.

• Reviewed the College’s compliance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s “Managing Public
Money” document.

Conclusion 
In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects, 
the expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2023 has 
not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament, and that the financial transactions do not conform 
to the authorities that govern them. 

Signed: 

Mazars LLP 

Date: 



Consolidated and College Statements of Comprehensive Income

Notes
2023 2023 2022 2022
Total 

Group
College Total 

Group
College

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
INCOME
Funding body grants 3        80,008        75,140        72,421        66,556 
Tuition fees and education contracts 4          7,183          8,928          8,119        10,408 
Other grants and contracts 5 -                 -   -                 -   
Other income 6          6,008          6,453          5,435          5,880 
Investment income 7             367             497 - 64

Total income        93,566        91,018 85,975 82,908

EXPENDITURE
Staff costs 8        66,302        63,986 69,992 67,628
Fundamental restructuring costs 9             174             172 147 153
Other operating expenses 10        24,292        24,171 21,555 21,088
Depreciation 13          8,119          8,119 7,889 7,889
Interest and other finance costs 11             973             972 1,840 1,839

Total expenditure        99,860        97,420 101,423 98,597

Deficit before other gains and losses        (6,294)        (6,402)      (15,448)      (15,690)

Surplus on disposal of assets             193             193 -                 -   
Share of operating loss in associates 14 (7) (7) (43) (43)
Loss on closure of subsidary -               -          (2,877) -   

Deficit before tax        (6,108)        (6,216)      (18,368)      (15,733)

Taxation 12 -                 -   -                 -   

Deficit for the year        (6,108)        (6,216)      (18,368)      (15,733)

Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes 23        24,805        24,805        93,196        93,196 
Investment property revaluation -                 -   -                 -   

       18,697        18,589        74,828        77,463 

The income and expenditure account is in respect of continuing activities.

Total comprehensive income for the year
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Consolidated and College Statement of Changes in Reserves

Income and 
Expenditure 

Account

Revaluation 
Reserve

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000
Group
Balance at 31st July 2021              17,247           11,625              28,872 

Deficit from the income and expenditure account             (18,368) - (18,368)
Other comprehensive income              93,196 - 93,196
Transfers between revaluation & income and expenditure reserves 170 (170) -

Total comprehensive income for the 2021/22 Year              74,998 (170) 74,828

Balance at 31st July 2022              92,245           11,455            103,700 

Deficit from the income and expenditure account (6,108) - (6,108)
Other comprehensive income              24,805 - 24,805
Transfers between revaluation & income and expenditure reserves 170 (170) -

Total comprehensive income for the 2022/23 Year              18,867 (170) 18,697

Balance at 31st July 2023            111,112           11,285 122,397

College
Balance at 31st July 2021              14,785           11,625              26,410 

Deficit from the income and expenditure account             (15,732) - (15,732)
Other comprehensive income              93,196 - 93,196
Transfers between revaluation & income and expenditure reserves 170 (170) -

Total comprehensive income for the 2021/22 Year              77,634 (170) 77,464

Balance at 31st July 2022              92,419           11,455            103,874 

Deficit from the income and expenditure account (6,216) - (6,216)
Other comprehensive income              24,805 - 24,805
Transfers between revaluation & income and expenditure reserves 170 (170) -

Total comprehensive income for the 2022/23 Year              18,759 (170) 18,589

Balance at 31st July 2023            111,178           11,285 122,463
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Statements of Financial Position as at 31 July 2023

Notes Group College Group College

2023 2023 2022 2022
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 13      154,574      154,574      154,331      154,331 
Investments 14          3,445          3,445          3,452          3,452 

     158,019      158,019      157,783      157,783 
Current assets
Stocks 15             197             178             127 96 
Trade and other receivables 16          3,762          3,515          4,235          1,866 
Cash and cash equivalents 21        18,761        18,737        19,120        18,775 

       22,720        22,430        23,482        20,737 

Less: Creditors – amounts falling due within one 
year 17      (13,522)      (13,166)      (12,097)        (9,178)

Net current assets          9,198          9,263        11,385        11,559 

Total assets less current liabilities      167,217      167,283      169,168      169,342 

Less: Creditors – amounts falling due after one year 18      (44,225)      (44,225)      (42,668)      (42,668)

Net assets before provisions      122,992      123,058      126,500      126,674 

Provisions

Other provisions 20 (595) (595) (746) (746)
Defined benefit obligations 23 -               -        (22,054) (22,054)

Total net assets      122,397      122,463      103,700      103,874 

Unrestricted reserves

Income and expenditure account      111,112      111,178        92,245        92,419 
Revaluation reserve        11,285        11,285        11,455        11,455 

Total unrestricted reserves      122,397      122,463      103,700      103,874 

…………………………………………………… ………………………………………..
Sue Sturgeon, Chair

The financial statements on pages 34 to 68 were approved and authorised for issue by the Corporation on 12th 
December 2023 and were signed on its behalf on that date by:

Gary Headland, Group Chief Executive & 
Accounting Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes 2023 2022
£’000 £’000

Cash inflow from operating activities
Deficit for the year        (6,108)      (18,368)

Adjustment for non cash items
Depreciation 13          8,119          7,889 
Deferred capital grants released to income 3 & 5        (2,706)        (2,568)
FRS 102 (28) pension charge 11 & 23          2,681        10,888 
(Increase) / decrease in stock 15 (70) (60)
Decrease / (Increase) in debtors 16             475           (698)
Increase / (decrease) in creditors 17,18          1,623        (1,534)
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 20 -                 -   

       10,122        13,917 

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Interest receivable 7             367 -   
Interest payable 11             143 65 
Impairment of Investment 7 43 
Disposal of fixed assets 26 -   

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities          4,556        (4,343)

Cash flows from investing activities
Sale of Assets -                 -   
Interest received (367) -
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 13        (6,158) (4,996)
Deferred capital grants received          1,753          3,112 

Net cash outflow from investing activities        (4,772)        (1,884)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 11 (143) (65)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (143) (65)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year (359) (6,292)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 21        19,120        25,412 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 21        18,761        19,120 
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Notes to the Accounts (forming part of the financial statements) 

1 General Information 

These Financial Statements comprising the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income, Consolidated and College Statement of Changes in Reserves, Statement of Financial 
Position, Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes (numbered 1 to 27) 
constitute the consolidated Financial Statements of Activate Learning for the financial year 
ended 31st July 2023. 

Activate Learning is an exempt charity under Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011 and is regulated 
by the Secretary of State for Education as Principal Regulator for all Further Education 
Corporations in England. The nature of the company’s operations and its principal activities are 
set out in the Report of the Governing Body at page 4. 

The Financial Statements have been presented in Pounds Sterling as this is the functional 
currency of the Group and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£000) except 
when otherwise indicated. 

Statement of Compliance 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). 

2 Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting 

The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, 
modified by the use of previous valuations as deemed cost at transition for certain non-current 
assets. 

Basis of Preparation 

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2019 (the 2019 FE HE 
SORP), the College Accounts Direction for 2022 to 2023 and in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 – “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom 
and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The Corporation is a public benefit entity and has therefore 
applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS 102. 

The preparation of Financial Statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated Financial Statements include the College and its subsidiaries, Activate 
Enterprise Limited, Activate Learning Investments Limited (dormant), The Oxford Partnership 
LLC, Merrist Wood Enterprises Limited (dormant), controlled by the Group. Control is achieved 
where the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during  
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) 
2. Accounting policies (continued)

the period are included in the consolidated income and expenditure account from the date 
of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. 

Intra group sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation. All Financial Statements are 
made up to 31st July 2023.  

Going Concern 

The activities of the Group, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and 
performance are set out in the Members Report, as is consideration of going concern. The 
financial position of the Group, its cash-flow, liquidity and borrowings are presented in the 
Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. After making appropriate enquiries, the 
Corporation considers that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. 

While disruption to financial performance is inevitable during the remainder of 2023 and into 
2024 from the challenging economic environment, the organisation benefits from a strong 
balance sheet, low gearing and a resilient cash balance. Sufficient discretion remains available 
to manage investment and operational cost cash flows to help mitigate the impact of any income 
shortfalls on short term liquidity. The Group currently has a £4.7m loan outstanding with the 
Department for Education. The repayment of this loan is not due to begin until July 2027.  

Assets are available to provide as security should loan financing support be required, although 
the Group’s forecasts and financial projections indicate that it will operate without the need for 
any short term financing requirements. Forward projections have been scenario tested and 
demonstrate resilience. Cash balances remain at the higher end of sector benchmarks and 
forward forecasts illustrate that position being maintained.  

Accordingly, the Group has a reasonable expectation that it has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and for this reason will continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in the preparation of its Financial Statements. 

Recognition of Income 

Government revenue grants include funding body recurrent grants and other grants and are 
accounted for under the accrual model as permitted by FRS 102. Funding body recurrent grants 
are measured in line with best estimates for the period of what is receivable and depend on the 
particular income stream involved. 

Any under or over achievement for the Adult Skills Budget is adjusted for and reflected in the 
level of recurrent grant recognised in the income and expenditure account. The final grant 
income is normally determined with the conclusion of the year end reconciliation process with 
the funding body following the year end, and the results of any funding audits. 16-18 learner 
responsive funding is not normally subject to reconciliation and is therefore not subject to contract 
adjustments. 

The recurrent grant from OFS represents the funding allocations attributable to the current 
financial year and is credited direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) 
2. Accounting policies (continued)

Grants (including research grants) from non-government sources are recognised in income 
when the College is entitled to the income and performance related conditions have been met. 
Income received in advance of performance related conditions being met is recognised as 
deferred income within creditors on the balance sheet and released to income as the conditions 
are met. 

Government capital grants are capitalised, held as deferred income and recognised in income 
over the expected useful life of the asset, under the accrual method as permitted by FRS 102. 
Other capital grants are recognised in income when the College is entitled to the funds subject 
to any performance related conditions being met. 

Government merger grants are recognised in income based on utilisation of the grant per the 
funding agreement. 

Income from tuition fees is stated gross of any expenditure which is not a discount and is 
recognised in the period for which it is received. 

Other income is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is earned 
on a receivable basis. 

Accounting for Post‐Employment Benefits 

Post-employment benefits to employees of the Group are principally provided by the Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). These are defined 
benefit plans, which are externally funded and contracted out of the State Second Pension. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme. Contributions to the TPS are calculated so as to spread the 
cost of pensions over employees’ working lives with the College in such a way that the pension 
cost is a substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The 
contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of valuations using a prospective 
benefit method. The TPS is a multi-employer scheme and the Group is unable to identify its 
share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis. 
The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution plan and the contributions recognised as 
an expense in the income statement in the periods during which services are rendered by 
employees. 

The LGPS is a funded scheme. The assets of the LGPS are measured using closing fair values. 
LGPS liabilities are measured using the projected unit credit method and discounted at the 
current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the 
liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each 
balance sheet date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and 
the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments. They are 
included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is 
also recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises the interest cost on 
the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated by 
multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to 
discount the benefit obligations. 
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) 
2. Accounting policies (continued)

The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on the 
scheme assets is recognised in other recognised gains and losses. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 

Short Term Employment Benefits 

Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) are 
recognised as an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the College. Any 
unused benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the Group expects to pay 
as a result of the unused entitlement. 

Enhanced Pensions 

The actual cost of any enhanced ongoing pension to a former member of staff is paid by a college 
annually. An estimate of the expected future cost of any enhancement to the ongoing pension 
of a former member of staff is charged in full to the Group’s income in the year that the member 
of staff retires. In subsequent years a charge is made to provisions in the balance sheet using 
the enhanced pension spreadsheet provided by the funding bodies. 

Non‐Current Assets ‐ Tangible Fixed Assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Certain items of fixed assets that had been revalued to fair value on or prior to the date of 
transition to the 2015 FE HE SORP, are measured on the basis of deemed cost, being the 
revalued amount at the date of that revaluation. 

Land and buildings 
Freehold buildings are depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives as 
follows: 

• 50 years
• Refurbishments – useful economic life

Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold buildings are depreciated over their expected useful 
economic life to the Group. 

Where land and buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are capitalised and 
depreciated as above. The related grants are credited to a deferred income account within 
creditors and are released to the income and expenditure account over the expected useful 
economic life of the related asset on a systematic basis consistent with the depreciation policy. 
The deferred income is allocated between creditors due within one year and those due after 
more than one year. 

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. 
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) 
2. Accounting policies (continued)

On adoption of FRS 102, the Group followed the transitional provision to retain the book value 
of land and buildings, which were revalued in 1996, as deemed cost but not to adopt a policy of 
revaluations of these properties in the future. 

Assets under construction 
Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ certificates 
and other direct costs, incurred to 31st July 2023. They are not depreciated until they are brought 
into use. 

Subsequent expenditure on existing fixed assets 
Where significant expenditure is incurred on tangible fixed assets after initial purchase it is 
charged to income in the period it is incurred, unless it increases the future benefits to the Group, 
in which case it is capitalised and depreciated on the relevant basis. 

Equipment 
Equipment costing less than £1,000 per individual item is recognised as expenditure in the period 
of acquisition. All other equipment is capitalised at cost. 

Capitalised equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over its remaining useful economic 
life as follows: 

• General equipment 6 years
• Motor vehicles 4 years
• Computer equipment 3 years
• Furniture, fixtures and fittings 5 years

Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenditure in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leased Assets 

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
Any lease premiums or incentives relating to leases signed after 1st August 2014 are spread over 
the minimum lease term. The Group has taken advantage of the transitional exemptions in FRS 
102 and has retained the policy of spreading lease premiums and incentives to the date of the 
first market rent review for leases signed before 1st August 2014. 

Leasing agreements which transfer to the Group substantially all the benefits and risks of 
ownership of an asset are treated as finance leases. 

Assets held under finance leases are recognised initially at the fair value of the leased asset (or, 
if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments) at the inception of the lease. The 
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. 
Assets held under finance leases are included in tangible fixed assets and depreciated and 
assessed for impairment losses in the same way as owned assets. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding liability. The finance charges are allocated over the period of the lease in proportion 
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) 
2. Accounting policies (continued)

to the capital element outstanding. 

Investment Properties 

Where the Group rents out property, these properties are treated as mixed use properties with 
the element of the property rented out being treated as an investment property and carried at fair 
value (market value) rather than cost. 

Investments 

Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment in the individual Financial 
Statements. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of their cost and net realisable value, being selling price less 
costs to complete and sell. Where necessary, provision is made for obsolete, slow moving and 
defective items. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. 

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. An investment qualifies as a cash 
equivalent when it has maturity of 3 months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Financial Liabilities and Equity 

Financial liabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial 
instrument’s contractual obligations, rather than the financial instrument’s legal form. 

All loans, investments and short term deposits held by the Group are classified as basic financial 
instruments in accordance with FRS 102. These instruments are initially recorded at the 
transaction price less any transaction costs (historical cost). FRS 102 requires that basic financial 
instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost, however the Group has calculated  
that the difference between the historical cost and amortised cost basis is not material and so 
these financial instruments are stated on the balance sheet at historical cost. Loans and 
investments that are payable or receivable within one year are not discounted. 
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Notes to the Accounts (continued) 
2. Accounting policies (continued)

Foreign Currency Translation 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial period with all resulting 
exchange differences being taken to income in the period in which they arise. 

Taxation 

The Corporation is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 
2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax 
purposes. Accordingly, the Corporation is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income 
or capital gains received within categories covered by Sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax 
Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such 
income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. 

The Corporation is partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, so that it can only recover 
3% of the VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such 
inputs and added to the cost of tangible fixed assets as appropriate, where the inputs themselves 
are tangible fixed assets by nature. 

The subsidiary companies are subject to corporation tax and VAT in the same way as any 
commercial organisation.  

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to 
settle the obligation is recognised at present value using a pre-tax discount rate. The unwinding 
of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in the statement of comprehensive income in the 
period it arises. 

A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the Group a possible obligation whose 
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either itis not probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed in the notes to 
the Financial Statements. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Agency Arrangements 

The Group acts as an agent in the collection and payment of discretionary support funds and 
related payments received from the funding bodies and subsequent disbursements to students 
are excluded from the income and expenditure of the College where the Group is exposed to 
minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the transaction. 

In preparing these Financial Statements, management have made the following 
judgements: 

• Determination as to whether there are indicators of impairment of the Group’s tangible
assets, including goodwill. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision
include the economic viability and expected future financial performance of the asset and
where it is a component of a larger cash generating unit, the viability and expected future
performance of that unit;

• Careful consideration has been given to which entities the Corporation has control over
and the appropriate decision made as to whether to consolidate or not;

• As a result of the triennial valuation of Local Government Pension Schemes, the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date is less than the fair value of
plan assets at that date, resulting in the plan having a notional surplus. As management
do not consider that the Group and College will be able to recover the surplus either
through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the plan, the surplus
has not been recognised in these financial statements in line with FRS102;

• The Activate Learning Group umbrella includes a multi academy trust, the Group has
judged that it does not have control of the trust so as to obtain benefits from their
activities. Therefore, the Group does not consolidate them into its Financial Statements.

Other key sources of estimation uncertainty: 

• Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible fixed assets, other than investment properties, are depreciated over their useful lives 
taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and 
residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re‐
assessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes 
are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market 
conditions, the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values. 

• Local Government Pension Scheme

The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends 
on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. 
The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount 
rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 23, will impact the carrying 
amount of the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects results from 
the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31st March 2022 has been used by the actuary in 
valuing the pensions liability at 31st July 2023. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial 
valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the pension liability. 

• Provision for Bad Debt

Provision for bad debt has been made at a level considered prudent in the light of past 
experience. 

• Harpur Trust V Brazel

The conclusion of the ‘Harpur Trust v Brazel’ case in July 2022 determined that workers who 
only work for part of the year, but who are on permanent contracts, are effectively entitled to the 
same holiday allowance as workers who work all year.  

The College is reviewing its position to ensure it is in compliance with the Court’s interpretation 
of the relevant regulations and is considering the impact on existing and past contracts. The 
College is unable currently to determine with any certainty whether a provision is required to be 
reflected in the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st July 2023 and the quantum of any 
such provision. It is acknowledged that any liability which may arise will need to be recognised 
in future years. 



Notes to the Accounts (continued)

3
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

6,344 6,307 5,765 5,765
52,891 52,891 45,445 45,445
5,482 680 5,834 -   
1,025 999 - 1,198

-                 -   1,225 -   
3,476 3,476 2,568 2,568

-                 -   -                 -   
10,790 10,787 11,584 11,580

80,008 75,140 72,421 66,556

4 Tuition fees and education contracts
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

4,386 4,226 4,911 5,016
81 - 98 -   

1,775 1,772 2,341 2,337
38 38 293 293

6,280 6,036 7,643 7,646
903 2,893 476 2,762

7,183 8,928 8,119 10,408

5 Other grants and contracts
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Release of Other Government Capital Grants -                 -   -                 -   

-                 -   -                 -   

Total

Adult education fees

Total tuition fees

Total

Education contracts

Apprenticeship fees and contracts
Fees for FE loan supported courses
International students fees

Higher Education Funding Council / OFS

Education and Skills Funding Agency – 16 -18

Other Grants

Specific grants

Funding body grants

Education and Skills Funding Agency - adult
Recurrent grants

Education and Skills Funding Agency - 

Releases of government capital grants
Transaction Unit grant funding

Total

47 Activate Learning Annual Report and Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 July 2023 



Notes to the Accounts (continued)

6 Other income
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2,947 3,015 2,365 2,443
2,526 2,903 2,607 2,974

The Oxford Partnership -                 -   -                 -   
            535             535             463             463 

6,008 6,453 5,435 5,880

7 Investment income
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

- 130 - 64
367 367 -               -   

            367 497 - 64

Miscellaneous income

Group interest receivable

Catering and residences
Other income generating activities

Total

Other interest receivable

Total
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8

2023 2022
No. No.

            445             402 
         1,024          1,042 

1,469 1,444

2023 2022
No. No.

604 547
1,352 1,387
1,956 1,934

2023 2023 2022 2022
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

49,503 47,515 46,708 44,670
4,461 4,259 4,205 4,004

11,684 11,573 18,534 18,431

65,648 63,347 69,447 67,105
654 639             545             523 

66,302 63,986 69,992 67,628

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs (includes FRS102 (28) 
adjustments of £1,858,000; 2022: £9,278,000)

Teaching staff
Non teaching staff

Staff costs for the above persons

Teaching staff
Non teaching staff

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed by the Group during the year, 
described as full-time equivalents, was:

The average number of persons (including key management personnel) employed by the Group during the year 
was:

Staff costs - Group

Payroll sub total
Contracted out staffing services

Staff costs
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8

2023 2022
No.

8 11

2023 2023 2022 2022
Key 

Management 
Personnel

Other Staff Key 
Management 

Personnel

Other Staff

£60,001 to £65,000 25 1 21
£65,001 to £70,000 1 4 4
£70,001 to £75,000 1 2 2
£75,001 to £80,000 1 2 1 2
£80,001 to £85,000 1 2 1 1
£85,001 to £90,000 1
£90,001 to £95,000 1
£95,001 to £100,000
£105,001 to £110,000
£110,001 to £115,000
£115,001 to £120,000 2
£120,001 to £125,000 1
£125,001 to £130,000 2 2
£130,001 to £135,000
£135,001 to £140,000
£140,001 to £145,000 1
£145,001 to £150,000
£165,001 to £170,000 1
£170,001 to £175,000 1 1
£180,001 to £185,000
£190,001 to £195,000 1
£200,001 to £205,000
£205,001 to £210,000
£230,001 to £235,000 1

10 36 11 30

Emoluments of key management personnel, Group Chief Executive and other higher paid staff

The number of key management personnel including 
the Group Chief Executive:

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Group and are represented by the Group Executive Team which comprises of the
Group Chief Executive, Deputy Group Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer, Chief People Officer, Chief
Strategy Officer and three individuals with the title Group Executive Director.

The number of key management personnel and other staff who received emoluments, excluding pension
contributions but including benefits in kind, in the following ranges was:

Key management personnel

Staff costs - Group (continued)

In 2022, the role of Group Chief Executive Officer was performed by two individuals, which distorts the year on 
year comparisons in the above table. 
One additional member of key management personnel left employment in November 2023. Total renumeration 
for this member of staff for the period of employment was £45,986. 
At the end of July 2023, there are eight key management personnel roles. Due to staff staff turnover and 
restructuring of responsibilities, the table and note above illustrates that 11 individuals undertook these roles.
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8 Staff costs - Group (continued)

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

         1,127 1,266
29 76 
18 32

         1,174          1,374 
221 108

         1,395          1,482 

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

228 226
-   33 
2 17 

230 276

52 19

9
2023 2022
£’000 £’000

Exceptional staff restructuring (contractual) 174 147
174 147

Key management personnel emoluments are made up as follows:

Salaries

Benefits in kind

In 2022 the role of Group Chief Executive was performed by two individuals. The table consolidates their
emoluments.

£65,288 was paid in respect of four individuals whose annual salary was £60,000 or above. There were no
additional non-cash benefits provided.

Pension contributions

Fundamental restructuring costs 

Performance related bonuses

Pension contributions

Salaries

Benefits in kind

Total emoluments

Performance related bonuses

The Group Chief Executive's basic salary divided by the median pay of all other Corporation employees & Chief
Executive's total emoluments divided by the median pay of all other Corporation Employees was 6.6 and 8.5
respectively. This only includes employees of Activate Learning and excludes contractors & agency staff.

In September 2020, the Remuneration Committee commissioned an external benchmarking exercise of the CEO
salary package. This compared the reward package against all FE Corporations, those of similar size and complexity
and those geographically close. Comparison was also made against relevant ‘not for profit’ organisations and
education charities. The Remuneration Committee also considered the achievement of the CEO’s agreed objectives.
The benchmarking exercise confirmed that the CEO reward was generally lower than comparable organisations,
enabling it to be in line with the ‘mid to upper quartile range’ target set by the Remuneration Committee for all Group
Executive roles in December 2019.

The above emoluments include amounts payable to the Group Chief Executive (who is also the highest paid post
holder) of:

There were no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, nor any salary sacrifice
arrangements in place. Included in the above are bonuses linked to delivery of key strategic objectives of the Group.
Reward for key management personnel (including assessment of peformance related bonuses) is set by the
Remuneration Commiittee, a sub-committee of the Corporation board. 
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10
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
5,809 5,799 5,218 5,326

12,451 12,001 10,933 10,445
5,810 5,809 5,214 5,221

Impairment of financial assets 58             562 94 95 
The amount of stock recognised as an expense 164 - 96 1

24,292 24,171 21,555 21,088

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

53 46
82 63

-                 - 

2023 2023
Group College
£’000 £’000

Student Debt 36 36
Commercial Debt 22 22
Intercompany Loan Bad Debt Provision - 504

58 562

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

Access Investment 40 28
Financial Support to Students 27 51
Research & Evaluation 1 34

68 113

11
2023 2023 2022 2022

Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

            143             143 65 64 
            143             143 65 64 

28 28 31 31 
            802             802          1,744          1,744 

            973             972          1,840          1,839 

Other operating expenses

Teaching costs

Other services by the financial statements auditors

Non teaching costs
Premises costs

Total

Other operating expenses include:

Financial statements audit*
Internal audit**

Auditors’ remuneration:

Total

Impairment of Financial Assets During the year, debts written off amounted to:

No individual commercial debts were written off in excess of £5,000. Three student payable fees were written off 
in excess of £5,000. The College made a bad debt provison of £504,289 against the intercompany loan with 
Activate Enterprise due to the ongoing financial challenges with the subsidary. 

Access & Participation Spend The accounts include the following spend for HE students:

Interest payable 

On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans:

Total

Bank charges
Net interest on defined pension liability (note 23)
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12 Group taxation
2023 2022
£’000 £’000

-                      -   

13 Tangible fixed assets (Group)

Land and 
buildings

Equipment Assets in the 
Course of 

Construction

Total

Freehold 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

         158,308            43,700 670          202,678 
Reclassification -                      -   -                      -   
Additions              2,482 489              5,416              8,387 
Transfers from AUC 360              5,588             (5,948) -   
Disposals (205) (1,274) - (1,479)

160,945 48,503 138 209,586

           26,914            21,433 - 48,347
Reclassification -                      -   -                    -   
Charge for the year              4,091              4,028 - 8,119
Disposals (181) (1,274) - (1,455)

30,824 24,187 - 55,011

130,121 24,315 138 154,574

131,394 22,268 670 154,332

Total

Net book value at 31 July 2023

Net book value at 31 July 2022

At 31 July 2023

Depreciation

Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2022

At 1 August 2022

At 31 July 2023
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13

Land and 
buildings

Equipment Assets in the 
Course of 

Construction

Total

Freehold 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

         158,308            43,700 670          202,678 
Reclassification -                      -   -                      -   
Additions              2,482 489              5,416              8,387 
Transfers from AUC 360              5,588             (5,948) -   
Disposals (205) (1,274) - (1,479)

160,945 48,503 138 209,586

           26,914            21,433 - 48,347
Reclassification -                      -   -                    -   
Charge for the year              4,091              4,028 - 8,119
Disposals (181) (1,274) - (1,455)

30,824 24,187 - 55,011

130,121 24,315 138 154,574

131,394 22,268 670 154,332

At 31 July 2023

Net book value at 31 July 2023

Net book value at 31 July 2022

Tangible fixed assets (College only)

At 1 August 2022

Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2022

At 31 July 2023

Depreciation
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13

14

Investment 
properties

Investment in 
associate

Other fixed asset 
investments

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation brought forward              3,445 -   7            3,452 
Impairment  -                       -    (7) (7)
Share of associate's deficit for the year -                         -   -                   -   
Acquisition of remaining shareholding -                   -   

             3,445 -                             -              3,445 

Investment 
properties

Investment in 
associate

Other fixed asset 
investments

Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation brought forward              3,445 -   7            3,452 
Impairment  -                       -    (7) (7)

             3,445 -                             -              3,445 

Tangible fixed assets (College only) (continued)

The Corporation owns 100 percent of the issued Ordinary A shares of Activate Enterprise Limited, a company
incorporated in England & Wales . The principal business activity of Activate Enterprise Limited is providing
training, consulting and apprenticeships. The initial cost for this investment was £175.

Land and buildings were valued by the three former colleges for the purpose of the 1994 financial statements at
depreciated replacement cost by a firm of independent chartered surveyors, in accordance with the RICS
Statement of Asset Valuation Practice and Guidance notes. Other tangible fixed assets inherited from the local
education authority at incorporation have been valued by the Corporation on a depreciated replacement cost basis
with the assistance of independent professional advice.

Land and buildings with a net book value of £8,853,000 (2022: £9,023,000) have been financed from exchequer
funds. Should these assets be sold, the Group may be liable, under the terms of the financial memorandum with
the ESFA, to surrender the proceeds. The Group may also be liable under the terms of the Transaction Unit's
support to surrender future proceeds from sales of Guildford College properties.

The transitional rules set out in FRS 102 Tangible Fixed Assets have been applied. Accordingly the book values at
implementation have been retained.

Non current investments

The Investment properties which have had valuations are The Innovation Centre in Banbury, the Jericho Building
in Oxford and the Eagle Radio Building in Guildford. The Innovation centre valuation was based on an independent
valuation of the property. The Jericho Building valuation was based on an independent view of market rental rates
and yields. Both of these valuations were independantly calculated by Gerald Eve as of 31 July 2018. The Eagle
Radio Building valuation was assessed in March 2019 by Gerald Eve. 

Group

Total

College

Total
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14

15 Stock
Group Group

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

Equine stocks 76 -   
Oil 102 96 
Insights units 19 31 

Total 197               127 

There is no significant difference between the replacement cost of the inventory and its carrying amount.
Stocks are held at cost after provisions for impairment of £nil (2021: £nil).

College
The College had stocks of £177,542 at 31 July 2022 (2022: £96,491).

Non current investments (continued)

The Group owns 5 per cent of 1885 Cornhill Ltd, a company incorporated in United Kingdom. The initial cost of
which was £50,000. The principal activity is the sale of food & beverage products. The investment held by Activate
Learning has been fully written down after reviewing the current financial position of the company.
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16 Debtors

2023 2023 2022 2022
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

            468             401          1,541          1,437 

-                 -   (0)        (2,175)
-                 -   -                 -   

         3,054          2,927          2,548          2,483 
            240             187             147             120 

         3,762          3,515          4,236          1,865 

17

2023 2023 2022 2022
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

            273             273             295             295 
         1,731          1,612          3,859          1,396 
         2,346          2,250          2,066          1,962 

-                 -   -                 -   
         4,031          3,890          1,384          1,033 
         4,202          4,202          2,616          2,616 

-                 -   -                 -   
            939             939          1,876          1,876 

       13,522        13,166        12,096          9,178 

18

2023 2023 2022 2022
Group College Group College
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

         4,655          4,655          4,655          4,655 
         1,784          1,784 -                 -   

-                 -   -                 -   
       37,786        37,786        38,013        38,013 

       44,225        44,225        42,668        42,668 

Corporation & Withholding Tax

Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

Total

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade receivables
Amounts owed by group undertakings:
   Subsidiary undertakings
   Associate undertakings

Deferred income 

Total

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Creditors: amounts falling due after one year

Deferred income -  government capital grants

Other taxation and social security

Accruals and deferred income

Amounts owed to the ESFA

Total

Other payments received in advance
Trade payables

Deferred income -  government capital grants 
Finance Leases

Finance Leases

ESFA Loans

57 Activate Learning Annual Report and Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 July 2023 



Notes to the Accounts (continued)

19 Maturity of debt

Loans & Overdraft

Group College Group College
2023 2023 2022 2022
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

         4,655          4,655          4,655          4,655 

         4,655          4,655          4,655          4,655 

Loans and overdrafts are repayable as follows:

In five years or more

Total

The Terms of the £4.655m ESFA loan is an annual fixed Interest rate equal to the PWLB Standard Rate (4.97% as
of April 2022).  Repayment installments starting in July 2027.
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20 Provisions

Hidden 
Pensions

Enhanced 
pensions

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

113 633             746 

1 (61) (60)
- (112) (112)
- 21 21 

114 481 595

2023 2022

2.80% 2.90%
5.00% 3.30%

21 Cash and cash equivalents

At 1 August 
2022

 Cash 
flows 

 Other 
changes 

At 31 July 
2023

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

         19,120 (359) -        18,761 

         19,120 (359) -        18,761 

22 Capital commitments

2022 2021
£’000 £’000

858 1,998

At 31st July 2023, £2,363,174 of cash belonging to The Oxford Partnership is being held in the UK and ringfenced 
from other cash assets until all tax liabilities with the Saudi Government have been agreed and settled. 

Commitments contracted for at 31 July 2023

The Hidden pension provision relates to the LGPS scheme which requires that anyone who is made redundant over
the age of 55 has to draw an immediate pension. The incremental cost of the additional years pension payments is
charged as a one off invoice to the employer. 

Total

Group and College

The enhanced pension provision relates to the cost of staff who have already left the College’s employ and
enhanced commitments have been made historically. This provision has been recalculated in accordance with
guidance issued by the funding bodies.

The principal assumptions for this calculation are:

Price inflation
Interest rate 

Cash and cash equivalents

Defined benefit obligations relate to the liabilities under the College’s membership of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. Further details are given in Note 23.

At 1 August 2022

Expenditure in the period

Interest Costs
At 31 July 2023

Actuarial Gain for the year
Charge to I&E
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23 Defined benefit obligations

2023 2022
£'000 £'000

         4,221              3,889 
85 93 

          5,476             5,264 
-                     -   

         5,476              5,264 

         9,782              9,246 Total Pension Cost for Year

The College’s employees belong to four principal post-employment benefit plans: the Teachers’ Pension Scheme
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Oxford County Council, Royal County of
Berkshire & Surrey Council Local Government pension schemes (LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which are each
managed by their respective County councils. All of them are multi-employer defined-benefit plans. The pension
costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest formal actuarial
valuation of the TPS was 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS 31 March 2019.

Contributions amounting to £1,066,712 (2022: £955,249) were payable to the schemes and are included in creditors.

Teachers’ Pension Scheme
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. These regulations apply to teachers in schools, colleges and other 
educational establishments. Membership is automatic for teachers and lecturers at eligible institutions. Teachers 
and lecturers are able to opt out of the TPS.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a ’pay as you go‘ basis – these contributions, along 
with those made by employers, are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the above Act. 
Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. Under the definitions set out 
in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a multi-employer pension plan. The college is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities of the plan.

Accordingly, the college has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions 
to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution plan. The college has set out above the information available on 
the plan and the implications for the college in terms of the anticipated contribution rates. The valuation of the TPS 
is carried out in line with regulations made under the Public Service Pension Act 2013. Valuations credit the 
teachers’ pension account with a real rate of return assuming funds are invested in notional investments that 
produce that real rate of return.

The Teachers’ Pension Budgeting and Valuation Account
Although teachers and lecturers are employed by various bodies, their retirement and other pension benefits, 
including annual increases payable under the Pensions (Increase) Acts are, as provided for in the Superannuation 
Act 1972, paid out of monies provided by Parliament. Under the unfunded TPS, teachers' contributions on a 'pay-as-
you-go' basis, and employers' contributions, are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the 
above Act. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament.

The Teachers' Pensions Regulations require an annual account, the Teachers' Pension Budgeting and Valuation 
Account, to be kept of receipts and expenditure (including the cost of pensions’ increases). From 1 April 2001, the 
Account has been credited with a real rate of return which is equivalent to assuming that the balance in the Account 
is invested in notional investments that produce that real rate of return.

Total pension cost for the year

Teachers Pension Scheme: contributions paid

Local Government Pension Scheme: 
Contributions paid
FRS 102 (28) charge 

Other pension schemes contributions paid 

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
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23 Defined benefit obligations (continued)

Scheme Changes

Following the Hutton report in March 2011 and the subsequent consultations with trade unions and other
representative bodies on reform of the TPS, the Department published a Proposed Final Agreement, setting out the
design for a reformed TPS to be implemented from 1 April 2015.

The key provisions of the reformed scheme include: a pension based on career average earnings; an accrual rate
of 1/57th; and a Normal Pension Age equal to State Pension Age, but with options to enable members to retire
earlier or later than their Normal Pension Age. Importantly, pension benefits built up before 1 April 2015 will be fully
protected.

In addition, the Proposed Final Agreement includes a Government commitment that those within 10 years of Normal
Pension Age on 1 April 2012 will see no change to the age at which they can retire, and no decrease in the amount
of pension they receive when they retire. There will also be further transitional protection, tapered over a three and a
half year period, for people who would fall up to three and a half years outside of the 10 year protection. 

Regulations giving effect to a reformed Teachers’ Pension Scheme came into force on 1 April 2014 and the
reformed scheme commenced on 1 April 2015. 

The pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £4,221,045 (2022: £3,889,112).

Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The latest actuarial review of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The valuation report was published by
the Department for Education in April 2019. The valuation reported total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in
payment and the estimated cost of future benefits) for service to the effective date of £218 billion, and notional
assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of £198
billion giving a notional past service deficit of £22 billion.

As a result of the valuation, new employer contribution rates were set at 23.68% of pensionable pay from
September 2019 onwards (compared to 16.48% during 2018/19). DfE has agreed to pay a teacher pension
employer contribution grant to cover the additional costs.
A full copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation can be found on the Teachers’ Pension Scheme
website.
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At 31 July At 31 July
2023 2022

3.0% - 4.0% 2.7% - 3.8%
2.8% - 3.0% 2.7% - 2.8%

5.05% - 5.15% 3.4% - 3.5%
2.8% - 3.0% 2.7% - 2.8%
50% - 55% 50% - 63%

CPI assumption

At 31 July At 31 July
2023 2022

years years
20.7 - 21.2 21 - 22.2
23.6 - 24.7 23.8 - 24.5

22.0 - 22.5 22.3 - 23.1
25.0 - 25.8 25.6 - 26.2

At 31 July At 31 July
2023 2022
£'000 £'000

 2,055 - 8,885  2,055 - 10,150 
 80 - 390  80 - 450 

 1,985 - 4,705  1,985 - 9,760 

Future pensions increases
Discount rate for scheme liabilities

Principal Actuarial Assumptions

Inflation assumption (CPI)

Defined benefit obligations (continued)

FRS 102 (28)

Rate of increase in salaries

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102 (28.11), the TPS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The College is
unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme.

Accordingly, the College has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions
to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution plan. The College has set out above the information available on
the plan and the implications for the College in terms of the anticipated contribution rates.

Local Government Pension Scheme

The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 2023 updated to 31 July
2023 by a qualified independent actuary.

The LGPS is a funded defined-benefit plan, with the assets held in separate funds administered by Oxfordshire
Local Authority, Royal County of Berkshire & Surrey Council. The total contribution made for the year ended 31 July
2023 was £7,030,990 of which employer’s contributions totalled £5,476,266 and employees’ contributions totalled
£1,554,725. The agreed contribution rates for future years are in the range of 19.8% - 28.4% for employers and
range from 5.5% to 10% for employees, depending on salary.

Commutation of pensions to lump sums

Males
Females

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.  The 
assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:

Retiring today
Males
Females
Retiring in 20 years

Pension Increase Orders are used to set the level of pension increases with effect from 1 April of each year, with
reference to the change in CPI inflation over the 12 months to the previous September, which was announced in
October. This was 6.7% and was considerably higher than the CPI assumption set by employers as at 31 July 2023.
Although Pension Increase orders have always been set with reference to the September CPI for the last 10 years
and the September RPI for the preceding 20 years, they are not automatically set and they are only known with
absolute certainty when the Pension Increase Order is enacted by Parliament, which is usually in April of the
following year. Similarly, the likely level of the forthcoming Pension Increase Order 2023 was not known at 31 July.
Consequently, no adjustment has been made to recognise the possible 2023 Pension Increase Order within the CPI
assumption.

Average Pension Increase rate increase of 0.5% 

Sensitivity analysis

Average Real Discount rate reduction of 0.5% 
Average Salary Increase rate increase of 0.5% 
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Long-term 
rate of 
return 

expected at 
31 July 2023

Fair Value 
at 31 July 

2023

Long-term 
rate of return 

expected at 
31 July 2022

Fair Value 
at 31 July 

2022

£’000 £’000

72% 105,633 70% 100,684
13% 19,561 16% 22,904
10% 15,160 10% 14,315
2% 3,423 2% 2,386

Other 2% 2,934 2% 2,863

100% 146,711 100% 143,153

2023 2022
£’000 £’000

          146,711        143,153 
         (146,656)      (165,131)

(55) (76)

- (22,054)

Defined benefit obligations (continued)

Equities
Bonds

The amount included in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is as 
follows:

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of plan liabilities
Present value of unfunded liabilities

The Corporation's share of the assets in the plan were:

Property
Cash

Total market value of assets

Net pensions (liability)
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2023 2022
£’000 £’000

7,324 14,516
0 12

7,324 14,528

781 1,732

781 1,732

             (3,959)             (559)
           (20,050)             (595)
            51,495          94,274 

Actuarial loss in respect of enhanced pension provision 112 76 
Less notional net pension asset not recognised              (2,793) -   

            24,805          93,196 

Experience gains / (losses) arising on defined benefit obligations 

Net interest costs

Total

Amounts included in investment costs

Defined benefit obligations (continued)

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of plan liabilities 

Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Amounts recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

Return on pension plan assets

Current service cost
Past service cost

Total

Amounts included in staff costs

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of the plan are as follows:
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Movement in net defined benefit (liability) during the year
2023 2022
£’000 £’000

     (22,054)    (104,164)

Transfer in value of net liabilities -                 -   
Current service cost        (7,324)      (14,516)
Administration expenses (6) (5)
Employer contributions          5,472 5,255
Past service cost - (12)
Net interest on the defined liability (781) (1,732)
Actuarial gain or loss        27,486 93,120
Less notional net pension asset not recognised        (2,793) -   

              -        (22,054)

2023 2021
£’000 £’000

     165,207      242,641 
-                 -   

         7,324        14,516 
         5,817          3,970 
         1,494          1,443 
       20,050             595 
     (47,595)        (1,403)
       (4,473)        (3,691)

- 12
       (3,900) (92,871)

(6) (5)

     143,918      165,207 

     143,153      138,477 
-                 -   

         5,036          2,238 
       (3,302)           (559)
         5,472          5,255 
         1,494          1,443 
       (4,473)        (3,691)

(12) (10)
(657) -

     146,711      143,153 

Notes to the Accounts (continued)

Net defined liability at 31 July 

Deficit in scheme at 1 August 
Movement in year:

Asset and Liability Reconciliation

Estimated benefits paid

Contributions by scheme participants
Interest cost

Defined benefit obligations at start of period

Current service cost

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations

Changes in financial assumptions
Experience loss on defined benefit obligation

Transfer in value of new liabilities at acquisition

Reconciliation of Assets

Assets at end of period

Unfunded pension payments

Defined benefit obligations at end of period

Past Service cost

Return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Contributions by scheme participants
Estimated benefits paid

Fair value of plan assets at start of period

Interest on plan assets

Administration expenses
Change in financial assumptions

Changes in demographic assumptions

Transfer in Value of new assets at acquisition
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Amounts disbursed as agent

Learner support funds
2023 2022
£’000 £’000

            106             101 
         1,029             896 
         1,135             997 

       (1,000)           (857)

(31) (34)

            104             106 

Related party transactions

Net grants from the ESFA 

Activate Learning Education Trust activity in the year relates to the agreed charges under the SLA agreement to
provide Group Services, plus some payments made on behalf of ALET. During the year £389,344 was charged to
ALET, representing charges for services for the year and £8,595 of recharged costs and therefore not impacting
on the I&E. The balance outstanding on the account at 31 July 2023 was £48,077.

Disbursed to students

Due to the nature of the Group’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being drawn from
local public and private sector organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in
which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest.  

All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest are in
accordance with the Group’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.

Transactions with the ESFA and OFS are detailed in notes 3 and 17.

25

Balance unspent 1 August

£3,303 was paid to nine Governors during the year, (2022: £1,173 to two Governors). This represents travel and
subsistence expenses and other out of pocket expenses incurred in attending Governor meetings and charity
events in their official capacity. No Consultancy Services were provided by Governors during the year. One
Governor received £11,750 compensation for their services to the Group (excluding of the reimbursement of
expenses).

Funding body grants are available solely for students. In the majority of instances, the College only acts as a
paying agent. In these circumstances, the grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Balance unspent as at 31 July, included in creditors

Administration costs
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26 Contingent liabilities

Prior to being wound up, one of the group's subsidiary companies, The Oxford Partnership LLP was appealing
against income tax and withholding tax determinations from the Saudi Arabian tax authority in relation to certain tax
treatments adopted for the financial years 2015 to 2018. Although the Group have received professional advice that
the tax treatments used were appropriate and in accordance with relevant legislation, there is uncertainty over
whether the group will be pursued for settlement. As a result, the Group holds a £2.4m liability within these Financial
Statements which represents the remaining net assets of The Oxford Partnership LLP in case a future claim should
arise.

In July 2022, in the case of Harpur Trust V Brazel, the Supreme Court confirmed that workers who only work for part
of the year, but on permanent contracts are effectively entitled to the same holiday allowance as workers who work all
year round. In light of this ruling, the group has reviewed it's application of The Working Time Regulations and
believe the correct calcuation has been applied to variable hours staff. 
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Future minimum lease payments due 2023 2022
£’000 £’000

Land & Buildings
Not later than one year           34 36 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years           15 30 
Later than five years            -                   -   

          49 66 

Other
Not later than one year           79              144 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years           31 97 
Later than five years            -                   -   

        110              241 

In the year to July 2023 lease costs of £263,235 were recognised within the accounts as an expense.

Operating Leases

At 31st July 2023, the College had minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows
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